IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDALL T. DEVINEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1436

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE **FOURTH** JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR **DUVAL** COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. **0648825**
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-8500
nada.carey@flpd2.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt Phase

Ms. Futrell, 65, lived with her longtime companion, Hartwell Perkins, 72. Mr. Perkins worked out of state from May to September every year and was in New York when Futrell was killed. Randall Deviney lived one block away and had known Ms. Futrell and Mr. Perkins since he was a boy. R11:381-84, 389-90.

That night, August 5, 2009, Officer Milowicki responded to an unverified 911 call placed from Ms. Futrell's house. A call is unverified when the caller does not speak to the dispatcher. The dispatcher calls back, and if there is no answer, police are sent to the house. R12:417. When Officers Milowicki and Abney arrived at 10:35 p.m., R12:434, the windows were up, and the lights and TV were on, but no one answered the front door. After finding the 7-foot fence to the backyard locked from the inside, the officers entered the unlocked front door. They found Ms. Futrell dead on the living room floor. Her throat was cut, her shirt was pulled over her torso, and her panties were pulled up over her hips, with the crotch cut out. R12:426-27.

Officer Milowicki testified that she appeared posed: "The way her legs were struck me as odd for someone her age," "it didn't look natural." R12:436. Evidence technician Tracy Stapp testified the position of the body suggested it had been set up. R12:493-94. The bottoms of both feet had blood on them, and there were grass blades on several parts of the body. R12:462-63. Officer Stapp observed no obvious cuts to the palms and forearms, no obvious defensive wounds. R12:474, 500. A pair of jeans, with blood on the front and back, was by the back door. R12:427. No blood was in the area where the jeans were found. Stapp surmised that because the pants were found inside the house, they probably were removed inside. R12:502-03.

An ironing board was set up in the living room, with an iron and spray starch on it. R12:456. There was laundry on the loveseat. R12:460. There was a phone on the coffee table, off its charger, and another cordless phone on the dining room table. R12:464-465. The 911 call was made from the phone on the dining room table at 10:01 p.m. R12:466. The charger to that phone was on an end table in the back corner of the room. A candle on the end table was knocked over. R12:465-67.

Ms. Futrell's purse had been dumped out on the sofa. R12:457. Officer Stapp testified that nothing obvious was taken. R12:497. Items from the purse, including a wallet and

credit cards, were laid out on the ironing board. There was \$.56 in the wallet. R12:461.

The back door led to the backyard through a screened porch. In the center of the backyard was a large pool of blood. A trail of aspirated blood (blood with oxygen in it) led to a chair by the back door. There was a blood spot on the arm of the chair. R12:430-31, 446-50, 454. There was blood on the stones along the edge of the koi pond but no blood in the pond (the pond was drained the following day). R12:497. The following day, in daylight, a small section of knife blade was found a few feet from the pool of blood. R12:469, 481. A search of the yard and neighborhood produced no other knife parts. R12:482. There were two butcher blocks in the kitchen. A steak knife was missing from the butcher block on top of the refrigerator, and a larger knife was missing from the butcher block on the kitchen counter. R12:472.

The back yard was fenced on all sides. R12:442. There were no signs of forced entry. R12:436, 483.

Officer Stapp testified Ms. Futrell had been killed on the back patio, near the large pool of blood, and then dragged into the house. Most of the blood loss occurred outside. There was no sign of a struggle, inside or outside. There was very little blood inside the home. R12:494-96.

Various items and areas were dusted for prints, including the wallet, credit cards, the victim's clothing, the two cordless telephones, furniture, and the interior storm door. R12:488-90. Of 28 latent print cards evaluated, the only prints sufficient for comparison were prints from a tea cup on the end table, which matched Ms. Futrell. R12:570.

The medical examiner, Dr. Jesse Giles, testified the lethal wound was a large cut across the neck, which cut the larynx in half, and prevented her from being able to breathe. There was some blood in her airways, indicating she took breaths while she was bleeding. R12:515, 537-38. In Dr. Giles's opinion, it was only a few breaths. R12:548. The jugular vein was cut but not completely severed, resulting in rapid blood loss. R12:521, 523. She would not be able to speak after this was done and would have survived only seconds to minutes, could be 20 seconds, could be 200. R12:522, 551.

The only major blunt force injury was a crushing injury to both sides of the neck caused by hard squeezing on the neck or pressure on the neck from both sides at the same time. This injury was inflicted after the cut and after the victim was dead or her heart had stopped beating. It could have been caused by manual strangulation, a chokehold, or if the neck was down and being pressed some way, that would do it. R12:539-540, 554-557.

There were also minor blunt force injuries. Minor blunt force injuries include scrapes (abrasions), skin tears (lacerations), and bruises (contusions) and can result from something hitting the body or the body hitting something.

R13:518. There was a scrape and bruise around the left eye, a scrape on the left side of the forehead, scrapes on the left corner of the mouth, and bruising and small tears in the lip.

R12:518-519. On the right side, there were scrapes to the corner of the mouth, which had a yellowish tint, meaning the heart was not beating or there was not much blood. R12:519.

There was a small scrape on the left shoulder. On the upper left chest were two superficial cuts to the skin and two pricks. There was a pattern injury above the breast that looked like the end of a serrated knife pressed against her, scraping her. R12:523-525. The superficial cuts did not appear to be inflicted to cause injury and probably were the result of clothing removal, as they matched cuts in the shirt she was wearing. The two pricks, resembling jabbing to see if she was still alive, were the only ones that might not have been related to clothing removal. R12:557-558.

There was a scrape coming down the top of the left shoulder, and inside the left arm were four minor sharp force injuries, also yellowish, that occurred late or after the heart

had stopped. R12:525-26. On the back of her right shoulder were some small bruises. R12:526.

There were six small bruises around the arms and hands. There was a bruise just above the right elbow, which Dr. Giles determined was fresh by cutting into it. There was a similar bruise to the outside of the left elbow. There also was a bruise on the back side of the right wrist, another small bruise there that wasn't visible in the pictures, and two small bruises on the left front forearm. R12:526-527, 540. Asked if these were defensive wounds, Dr. Giles said, maybe, but there were "lots of different ways" they could have gotten there, including falling, striking out with the hand, hitting someone, or having things thrown at you. R12:541. There were no injuries to the legs. In Dr. Giles's opinion, the totality of the injuries to the arms and head indicated a struggle occurred. R12:541, 563. Asked if the bruises on both arms could have been caused by being dragged or pulled, he said they could be but were more likely from impact from a struggle. R12:559. The deep scalp bruise to the left temple area could have been caused from a fall. R12:558. The injuries to the arms and face were definitely caused by more than one blow because three different areas of the forehead had injury. "You might knock somebody down and get those but with one punch, for example, it's hard to get all those one areas." R12:563-564.

There were scrape marks across the lower back, upper hip, and buttocks that were typical for being dragged across something. R12:526-27.

Dr. Giles observed no signs of sexual assault or of trauma to the sex organs, R12:547, 561, and noted that one of the detectives thought the body had been posed to look like a sexual assault. R12:560-561.

There were remnants of grass on the body, including inside the cut, which was consistent with the body being outside when this occurred. R12:559-560.

Asked his opinion as to the sequence of injuries, Dr. Giles said, "A lot of things are possible." Some bruises came before the cut, and the cut came when she was alive and before the crushing injury to the neck. The cuts around the arm and the yellow bruising around the face came later, possibly after death. R12:547.

The jeans, panties, and bra, as well as the vaginal, oral, and rectal swabs tested negative for semen. R13:610-617.

The purse and its contents, the phones, and the clothing and body of Ms. Futrell were processed for DNA. No foreign DNA was found on any of these. The fingernail clippings of her right hand contained a mixture of DNA, with Ms. Futrell as the major contributor and a male as the minor contributor. When the

minor contributor's DNA was entered into CODIS, Deviney was identified as a match. R13:619-635.

When Detective Waldrop was informed by e-mail of the DNA match, he arranged to have Deviney picked up for questioning. R13:656. On August 30, around 2:35 p.m., Detectives Ottinger and Romano asked Deviney to come to the police station to discuss the murder. Deviney agreed and rode in the front of Romano's car. He was not handcuffed. He was placed in an interview room where suspects are surreptitiously videotaped. A redacted version of the videotape was played for the jury. Deviney was read his rights but told he was not under arrest. R13:655-56, 669-73. During the interview, he agreed to provide a DNA sample via a buccal swab. R13:658, 676. After obtaining the swab, the detectives left the room, returned a minute later, and told Deviney that they had DNA evidence that proved he killed Ms. Futrell. Deviney denied committing the murder and tried to leave. The detectives then placed him in custody, confronted him with the e-mail from FDLE, and he confessed to the murder. R13:658, 677. In the videotaped confession, a redacted version of which was played for the jury, Deviney said he was there but it wasn't him. R13:743. He didn't know what triggered it, he tried not to remember that night. Asked if she caught him "in the purse," he said, "No. I would never steal from her." He went over there to see how she was doing and she

let him in. She asked him how everything was going, and he told her he was having problems. She brought up his "child life." R13:744. Crying, he told the detectives he wanted to tell them what happened but it was hard to talk about. Asked again to explain why it happened, he said, "I don't know why it happened," "I lost my mind, that's all." Asked what made him snap, he said he couldn't stand it when "them m-f's" tell him about his childhood, tell him they know what he'd been through when they hadn't ever been in his shoes. He'd tried to go to counseling for it but they "always want to sit there behind that other desk and say I know what you go through, I've been there before. No the fuck you haven't." Asked if she fought him, he said, no. He said he had walked out back, and she had followed him. He was looking at the pond and all the things he had done for her, and "she sat down on the bank, on the edge of the pond and I had cut her throat and she fell to the ground." He used a fish filleting knife. He always had it when he went out, it was in the tackle box. He thought it was in the yard somewhere because he didn't take it with him. Then he dragged her inside. He took her clothes off to try and make it look like somebody else did it. He didn't do anything to her, didn't touch her. When she fell on the ground she was screaming for help and he didn't believe that she could do that, so he "went to stab her with the knife and it broke" and went somewhere in the yard, and

he couldn't find it. He went back after the police left "'cause I couldn't believe what I did. I couldn't believe I sat there and--took a human being's life." He didn't tell anyone because he thought if he didn't tell anyone, he might not get caught. He didn't remember her grabbing him. He didn't have blood on him. He didn't take any money out of her purse. Asked if she called 911, he said he didn't remember anything like that. He didn't call 911. He left out the front door. R13:743-54.

After confessing, Deviney was left alone briefly, during which time he was talking to himself and still crying: "God damn it, man. I didn't mean to do it. Fuck. Damn this shit, man, fuck. Damn mother fucker man, fuck. Why did I have to do that?" R13:754, RIV:587. His mother was then brought in. R13:756. That conversation also was videotaped. He told his mother not to worry, that his life was ruined from day one, and that maybe he could get "some kind of psycho help." He didn't know what was wrong with him, he didn't know what got into him when he was there. He asked his mother to promise to write him. When he got home the night of the murder, he tried to tell her but couldn't. He didn't mean to do it. Asked why he had that knife on him, he said, "I don't fucking know. And now I feel like just hanging myself." Asked what Miss Delores said that upset him, he said, "Mom, you know how I am about my childhood, she, she was bringing my shit up, I know my shit was bad, then

she started talking about Lacy and ____, I wish they'd kept their mouths shut about what happened." He tried to tell her and Ronnie what happened, it "fucked" him up and he couldn't sleep. He was trying so hard "to stay outta here, Mama." He took her clothes off "[t]o throw the suspicion off, Mama. 'Cause I didn't know if anybody seen me walking out or not." Asked about the screaming, he said, "She did. That's why she, I guess scratched me somewhere. That's why I threw her in the pond." When his mother told him she needed to understand, he said he didn't understand it himself, that it wasn't her fault, that he "just lost it" and didn't even remember anything. When his mother said she didn't understand how he didn't get blood all over him, he said, "yeah," and she responded, "You did?" as the detectives came in. Deviney asked the detectives "to get me some help please." He was handcuffed and taken out. R4:756-764.

When defense counsel asked Detective Ottinger on cross-examination if there was any evidence of sexual assault, Ottinger said, "the evidence is the picture with clothing removed and pants not just removed but cut away from her." He said he had spent three years as a sex crime detective and if he saw a body posed like that, he would think that the person had been sexually molested or that someone had positioned the person for their viewing pleasure. Ottinger knew that no semen was

found and agreed the body appeared to have been posed in a sexual position, meaning she was killed outside, and then brought inside. Asked if he got the impression Deviney enjoyed killing this woman, Ottinger replied, "My impression is he's a cold-blooded killer." R13:771-77.

The state also played an audiotaped jail phone call from Deviney to his father on September 1, 2008. During the call, Deviney told his father he had \$100 when he came in and that he now had \$85 because they took \$20. He said his mother was going to send him the rest of the money he had saved. He told his father that the detectives told him he was not a cold-blooded killer. He said he didn't know why he did it, he lost it, it wasn't him, it was another person, and he didn't remember everything. R13:659-664.

Hartwell Perkins testified that he and Ms. Futrell had been together for thirty years. They had moved to Florida in 1999 and had lived on Briner Street for two years, the street Randall Deviney and his family lived on. In 2002, they moved into a two-story house on Bennington Drive, which was one street over. Ms. Futrell baked cookies for the neighborhood kids, gave them rides, and they sometimes came over and used the computer, including Deviney. Perkins had seen Randall and his brother running around in the winter with no shoes. Perkins worked in New York from May through September and had taken their 80-pound

dog, Prince, with him this year because Ms. Futrell could no longer control him. Ms. Futrell had lived with multiple sclerosis for 45 years but it was starting to affect her more. She couldn't keep her balance well and had problems walking. She could go up and down the stairs and took care of herself and the house alone when Perkins was in New York. They talked on the phone the night she was killed from 9 to 9:30. Perkins had known Deviney since he was a child. Deviney came by the house sometimes. Perkins had seen him three times this year and knew that he was cutting their grass. Deviney had come to the vigil for Ms. Futrell, brought flowers, and it seemed like he cared and was concerned. R11:381-393.

Perkins said Ms. Futrell always kept \$40-\$50 in her wallet, but he had no personal knowledge that she had cash that day. R11:392, R12:405. He did not recall telling the defense investigator a few days before trial that she never carried cash: "No. I mean everybody would carry cash. I believe everybody should." R12:405.

Moses Oche, a neighbor and friend, said Ms. Futrell was frail and small. He had last seen Randall Deviney in the neighborhood eight months earlier mowing Ms. Futrell's lawn. R12:409-12.

Mary Schuller, 61, lived across the street from Deviney, his mother, and step-father, and had known Deviney since he was

7 or 8 years old. The day after Ms. Futrell was killed, Schuller was talking with Deviney and his mother, and Deviney said he heard Ms. Futrell had been violated. At the vigil the following Saturday, Deviney seemed anxious to get in the house, and he and another guy "barged" in. R12:575-84.

Ronald Reives had lived on Bennington for nine years and knew Ms. Futrell, Mr. Perkins, and Randall Deviney. Ms. Futrell was frail and had trouble walking. Reives had seen Randall talking with Futrell and Perkins when they were walking the dogs. At the vigil, Randall asked Reives to go inside with him. They didn't barge in, they just walked in. Family members and neighbors were walking through the house and in the backyard. Randall pointed out blood spots in the backyard and on the fish pond. He was angry. R12:586-92.

Nancy Mullins, 44, Randall Deviney's mother, testified they had lived on Briner for eleven years. She had three other children living with her, aged 12, 9, and 6, and Randall had been staying there for about three weeks. They had a common fence with the houses on Bennington, and Ms. Futrell's backyard, about three houses down, was visible from their backyard. Mrs. Mullins' children periodically went by Ms. Futrell's home for cookies and had helped her with her yard. Ms. Futrell had picked them up at the bus once when it was raining. On August 5, 2008, Randall was in and out all night. On Thursday or

Friday after the murder, Randall said he heard from someone in the neighborhood that Ms. Futrell might have been violated. Around this time, Randall needed a knife to cut a rope.² She told him to get the fishing knife from the tackle box. After that, he said he couldn't find that knife. R12:595-600, R13:606-08.

Penalty Phase

Mary Schuller, who had testified in the guilt phase, testified that Ms. Futrell's MS had worsened over time. When she walked her 75-pound bulldog, she would lose her balance and fall. She had lost weight and muscle mass in her arms and had less stamina. The last few years, she didn't do yard work, walk her dog, or even walk by herself because of the possibility of falling. She still drove her car and stayed by herself when Mr. Perkins was away. R15:982-90.

Ms. Futrell's daughters, Jacqueline Blais and Helen Stewart, and her older sister, Debra Wright, read victim impact statements. R15:992-1008. Ms. Blais said her mother tired easily due to her MS and had taken early retirement and gone on disability when her health started failing. R15:992. Ms.

² In her sentencing order, the trial judge stated that Deviney's mother testified that Deviney asked her about a knife "on the evening of the murder." R6:871. This is incorrect. Ms. Mullins testified that her son needed a knife to cut some rope "around th[e] same time frame" as the murder. R13:607.

Wright said the MS was taking a toll on her sister's balance, strength, and coordination. R15:1005-06.

The defense presented testimony from Randall Deviney's step-mother, mother, father, and a former employer.

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