IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDALL DEVINEY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC10-1436

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General
PL-01, The Capitol
Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579
(850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

To illustrate the point that Deviney's complaint about being in custody did not invoke Miranda, if the police had granted Deviney's wishes and taken him home, they could have, without running afoul of Miranda, continued to discuss the case with him, including answering Deviney's questions and following up with questions of their own as they drove Deviney home. Indeed, a person running from the police, thereby indicating a desire not to be in custody, does not per se bar a police interview when the police catch him. See, e.g., Philmore v. State, 820 So.2d 919, 925, 927-28 (Fla. 2002)(arrest subsequent to high-speed chase; Miranda warnings; defendant's statements admissible).

Deviney confirmed his prior wishes when his mother indicated to him that he needs a lawyer, and Deviney responded, "For what?" (MTS/SE #2 at ~2:38:40) Indeed, at that juncture, he also told his mother that the police have been taping him the entire time. A little later, Deviney's mother told Deviney that he needs a lawyer, but he has already confessed. (MTS/SE #2 at ~2:42:00) Deviney never indicated to his mother that he believed that he invoked his right to remain silent. In other words, a fair "reading" of the record is that, at that time, Deviney's interpretation of the events was that he did not communicate that he is invoking his right to remain silent. As such, this is a party admission.

In addition to the case law cited by the trial court (Owen and Davis),

several other cases support the order denying the motion to suppress.

In Berghuis v. Thompkins, __U.S.__, 130 S.Ct. 2250, 2256 (2010), unlike here, the defendant "declined to sign the form." Like here, the defendant contended that an ambiguous situation indicated that "he had invoked his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, requiring police to end the interrogation at once." There, the defendant argued that his prolonged silence communicated that he was invoking his constitutional right to remain silent. Here, Defendant contends that his requests to leave communicated that invocation. Thompkins rejected the defense argument:

This argument is unpersuasive. In the context of invoking the *Miranda* right to counsel, the Court in *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 459, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (1994), held that a suspect must do so 'unambiguously.' If an accused makes a statement concerning the right to counsel 'that is ambiguous or equivocal' or makes no statement, the police are not required to end the interrogation, *ibid.*, or ask questions to clarify whether the accused wants to invoke his or her *Miranda* rights, 512 U.S., at 461-462, 114 S.Ct. 2350. ... [T]here is no principled reason to adopt different standards for determining when an accused has invoked the *Miranda* right to remain silent and the *Miranda* right to counsel at issue in *Davis*. See, e.g., *Solem v. Stumes*, 465 U.S. 638, 648, 104 S.Ct. 1338, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984) ('[M]uch of the logic and language of [*Mosley*²³],' which discussed the *Miranda* right to remain silent, 'could be applied to the invocation of the [*Miranda* right to counsel]'). Both protect the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, *Miranda*, *supra*, at 467-473, 86 S.Ct. 1602, by requiring an interrogation to cease when either right is invoked, *Mosley*, *supra*, at 103, 96 S.Ct. 321 (*citing Miranda*, *supra*, at 474, 86 S.Ct. 1602); *Fare v. Michael C.*, 442 U.S. 707, 719, 99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197 (1979).

Thompkins, 130 S.Ct. at 2259-60. Accordingly, Deviney's claim should be

²³ Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 103, 96 S.Ct. 321, 46 L.Ed.2d 313 (1975).

rejected here.

Here, especially where Deviney had assured the police that he is well-aware of his rights and that he would clearly communicate his intent to the police, the policy rationale of Thompkins, 130 S.Ct. at 2260 (internal citation omitted), is doubly applicable:

If an ambiguous act, omission, or statement could require police to end the interrogation, police would be required to make difficult decisions about an accused's unclear intent and face the consequence of suppression 'if they guess wrong.' Suppression of a voluntary confession in these circumstances would place a significant burden on society's interest in prosecuting criminal activity.

See also State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So.2d 297, 305 (Fla. 2001)(case law does not "require[] that law enforcement officers act as legal advisors or personal counselors for suspects ... To require officers to advise and counsel suspects would impinge on the officers' sworn duty to prevent and detect crime and enforce the laws of the state").

Here, as in Thompkins, Id. at 2263, "there is no evidence that [the defendant's] statement was coerced," and here the interview was shorter than Thompkins' three-hour sitting.

And, here, akin to Thompkins, 130 S.Ct.at 2263 (quoting North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 373, 99 S.Ct. 1755, 60 L.Ed.2d 286 (1979)), "courts can infer a waiver of *Miranda* rights 'from the actions and words of the person interrogated.'" Indeed, "Where the prosecution shows that a *Miranda* warning was given and that it was understood by the accused, an accused's uncoerced statement establishes an implied waiver of the right to remain silent." 130 S.Ct.at 2262. See also Id. at 2264 ("a suspect who has received and understood the *Miranda* warnings, and has not invoked his

Miranda rights, waives the right to remain silent by making an uncoerced statement to the police.")

Ford v. State, 801 So.2d 318, 319-320 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), upheld the denial of a motion to suppress where the defendant said "Just take me to jail" on at least three occasions, before he eventually confessed." Here, Deviney also wanted to leave the location of the interview. Ford properly invoked, as the trial court here, Owen as applicable:

[T]he Florida Supreme Court held in *State v. Owen*, 696 So.2d 715, 717 & n. 4 (Fla.1997), that the statements 'I'd rather not talk about it' and 'I don't want to talk about it' were merely 'equivocal' and ambiguous invocations of the right to remain silent, which required neither that the interrogator cease questioning nor that any ambiguity be resolved.

Deviney, for example, likewise did not want to talk about his childhood and he wanted to be released, but his wishes did not unequivocally invoke his right to remain silent.

Accordingly, State v. Pitts, 936 So.2d 1111, 1130-31 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)(Judge Canady, writing), analyzed the applicable case law and applied it to a situation in which the defendant "initially responded '[n]o sir' after he was asked if he was willing to speak to the interrogating officer during the final taped interview." Pitts reversed a trial court granting of a motion to suppress because of the preceding context of the "no." Here, from the officers' perspective, the preceding context included Deviney's assurances that he knew his rights and that he would clearly communicate his intent. Here, the trial court's order denying the motion to suppress merits affirmance.

D. Harmless Error.

Here, even if there had been error, it was harmless. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). As discussed at the beginning of this issue supra, Deviney actually confessed three times: to the police, then, after Deviney requested to see his mother, to his mother, and then subsequently on the phone to his father. Indeed, Deviney's statements to his mother were at least as incriminating as those to the police. Moreover, there was additional weighty evidence of Deviney's guilt, especially his DNA under the victim's fingernails. See "GUILT-PHASE EVIDENCE" section in fact supra.

ISSUE II (ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY): WAS IT REVERSIBLE ERROR TO INSTRUCT the JURY ON ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY IN the GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES OF THE TRIAL? (IB 52-55, RESTATED)

ISSUE II contends that the jury should not have been instructed on felony murder with attempted sexual battery as an underlying felony in either the guilt or the penalty phase. ISSUE II discusses the victim's clothing (shirt and panties), argues testimony of a "posed" position, no semen identified, and aspects of the medical examiner's testimony as purported support for its position that the evidence was insufficient for attempted sexual battery. However, the defense provided nothing to the trial judge approximating these arguments in the guilt-phase JOA motion, in the penalty-phase jury instruction discussions, or even in his sentencing memorandum, rendering ISSUE II unpreserved as to each phase of the trial.

In any event, there was sufficient evidence to support the jury instructions and for the jury and judge to find an alternative underlying

felony as well as the attempted sexual battery.

A. Procedural Background and Failure to Preserve ISSUE II.

The Guilt Phase.

Concerning the guilt phase, the trial court instructed the jury that the charge could be proved through evidence of actual premeditation or evidence of felony murder. (XIV 893) The trial court instructed the jury on aspects of actual premeditation (XIV 893-94) and felony murder, including the alternative of attempted sexual battery (XIV 894)²⁴ The instructions detailed the elements of burglary, attempted burglary, and attempted sexual battery. (XIV 895-99) The verdict form provided for check spaces for "one or both of the findings" of premeditation as one option and during the commission of burglary and/or attempted burglary and/or attempted sexual battery as another option. The jury checked both options. (IV 614)

This issue is not preserved concerning the guilt phase because in the motion for a judgment of acquittal (XIII 780-800), defense counsel only mentioned that the State had not "made out a prima facie case of" "sexual assault or attempted sexual a battery" as an "underlying felony" or proved "the alleged sex offense" through the physical evidence and testimony (XIII 781). He failed to specify any argument concerning why. The trial judge denied the JOA and concluded that the evidence presents a prima facie case "of either felony murder or premeditated murder." (XIII 784-86) Because the

²⁴ Accordingly, the prosecutor argued that either Deviney was trying to steal from the victim or sexually assault her. (XIV 814-15, 828-29; see also, e.g., XIV 824-25)

defense judgment-of-acquittal opposition to attempted sexual battery as a means of proving felony murder was conclusory and not the same argument as ISSUE II, the appellate guilt-phase claim was not preserved. See, e.g., Victorino v. State, 23 So.3d 87, 103 (Fla. 2009)("boilerplate" and "failed to present the grounds he now raises on appeal," "not preserved for appellate review")(citing Archer v. State, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla.1993) and Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)); Murray v. State, 491 So.2d 1120, 1122 (Fla. 1986) ("the issue of the jury instructions had not been properly preserved for appeal through specific argument below").²⁵

Penalty Phase.

In the penalty phase, the trial judge instructed the jury on the

²⁵ Pursuant to this Court's role "in death penalty cases ... to review the sufficiency of the evidence to support the conviction," F.B. v. State, 852 So.2d 226, 220 (Fla. 2003), here there clearly is sufficient evidence for the "conviction" of First Degree Murder on a premeditation theory as well as on a burglary/felony murder theory, as well as even for the ISSUE II-challenged attempted sexual battery/felony murder theory. Thus, for example, evidence of Deviney carrying the knife to the victim's home in the evening, the struggle, Deviney's DNA under the victim's fingernails, the extensive throat slashing, ... demonstrate premeditation, and the extreme battery on the victim, rummaging in the purse, the absence of currency in it, Deviney needing money, ... demonstrate burglary. (See facts discussed in the section supra "GUILT-PHASE EVIDENCE," in STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS"; discussion of Burglary infra.) Therefore, under this Court's precedent, preservation applies to sufficiency of evidence for a charge in the guilt phase if there was evidence of a crime, like here. In such situations, like here, fundamental error is not applicable. See F.B., 852 So.2d at 229-30 (subject to "rare[]" exceptions, preservation applies, requiring the specific appellate argument to have also been made to the trial court in order to preserve that argument for appeal; fundamental error "when the evidence is insufficient to show that a crime was committed at all").

aggravator of attempt to commit any sexual battery. (XVI 1167-68)²⁶
Subsequently, after the jury recommended death by a vote of 10-to-2 (XVI
1177-78; V 786), the Judge found the while-engaged-in-a-felony aggravator:

1. The capital felony was committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of any burglary, or an attempt to commit any burglary, or attempt to commit any sexual battery. §921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (2008).

On the evening of August 5, 2008, the Defendant, armed with a knife, entered Dolores Futrell's home. Dolores Futrell called 911. When the police arrived, they found Dolores Futrell's body on the living room floor, lying in what appeared to be a posed position. The Defendant cut Dolores Futrell's bra and panties. Prior to the release of the circumstances surrounding Dolores Futrell's death, the Defendant mentioned that she had been violated. The police also found that the contents of Dolores Futrell's purse had been dumped out and that there was no cash in her wallet. Hartwell Perkins testified that Dolores Futrell kept cash in her wallet. On March 4, 2010, prior to the jury's deliberations, the jury was instructed on the elements of burglary, attempted burglary, and attempted sexual battery. The jury subsequently found that the murder of Dolores Futrell was committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of a burglary and/or attempted burglary and/or attempted sexual battery. The jury

²⁶ The prosecutor argued this aggravator to the jury but submitted that it was not as weighty as other aggravators in this case:

In order to consider the death penalty as a possible penalty, you must first determine or you must determine that at least one aggravating circumstance has been proved. You've actually already done that in the guilt part in terms of the felony murder, in terms of he committed this murder in the process of committing a burglary or attempting to commit a burglary or attempting to commit a sexual battery, but we've in this case, I would submit, proven beyond a reasonable doubt three aggravators to you. And the one you already found him guilty of, one I would submit to you in terms of weight, that's actually not as much weight as the other two.

(XVI 1100-1101; see also XVI 1103-1106)

verdict proves beyond all reasonable doubt the existence of this aggravating circumstance. This aggravating circumstance has been given great weight in determining the appropriate sentence to be imposed in this case.

(VI 872; bold and underlined formatting in original)

Like the guilt phase, ISSUE II is also not preserved for the penalty phase. See Smith v. State, 28 So.3d 838, 863 (Fla. 2009)(rejected as unpreserved an issue contending "the application of the 'committed during the course of a sexual battery upon a person under the age of twelve' and the 'under the age of twelve' aggravating factors would constitute improper doublers"); Williams v. State, 967 So.2d 735, 761 (Fla. 2007)("Williams has waived the current challenge because he failed to object to the jury instructions on this basis"); Willacy v. State, 967 So.2d 131, 148 (Fla. 2007); Gonzalez v. State, 786 So.2d 559, 564 (Fla. 2001)(unpreserved claim attacking aggravator of "victim's status as a police officer" because "not presented to the trial court").

When the parties and the Judge discussed the jury instructions (XV 942-68), the defense's objection said nothing specific about insufficiency of evidence for attempted sexual battery.

The circuit judge instructed the jury on attempted sexual battery (XVI 1167-68), and as soon as the instructions were completed, defense counsel expressly stated: "I wanted to say for the record, the defense has no objections to the instructions as read." (VXVI 1176) This statement alone renders ISSUE II's attack on the attempted sexual battery component of the aggravator unpreserved. See Morrison v. State, 818 So.2d 432, 455-56 n.16 & accompanying text (Fla. 2002)("settled rule of Florida procedure that, in

order to preserve an objection, a party must object after the trial judge has instructed the jury").

This claim remained unpreserved at the Spencer hearing. Instead of raising ISSUE II, defense counsel contended that, concerning "commission and attempt to commit the crime of burglary, attempted burglary or attempted sexual battery, ... is ... actually a double-dipping ... and we're asking the Court to give that little weight." (XVI 1198)

B. Standards of Review.

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